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WILLIAM W. POOL, POOL SIDING, AND POOLE 
A Brief History

by Kieth Buss
During the 1860s, the brothers A. H. and W. W. Pool and the brothers W. C. and 

W. Z. Tillson left their homes in Michigan to go to Oil City, Pennsylvania, where an 
oil boom was going on. These brothers were attracted to areas of opportunity. Not only 
were they like-minded, they were linked by marriage, A. H. Pool having married Gertrude 
S. Tillson, a sister of W. C. and W. Z. Tillson.

In the 1870s when the luster began to go off the oil boom, these brothers started 
to look around for a new field of endeavor. They believed they found it in Buffalo County, 
Nebraska. All of them came out in October of 1876 in their own railroad car, which 
was put off at Kearney while they got themselves settled. W. C. Tillson entered 
L. R. More’s bank in Kearney, while the others went north and settled along Cedar 
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WITH THE SOCIETY
Ronald V. Norman will be the speaker at the general meeting of the Buffalo County 
Historical Society which will be held on Sunday, February 25, at 2:00 p.m. at the First 
Lutheran Church in Kearney. The program will focus on the history of the Kearney Public 
Library, which is celebrating its centennial this year.

Mark your calendar for other upcoming events of the Historical Society:
General Meeting
Annual Meeting
Turn-of-Century House Tour
Summer opening of Trails & Rails Museum 
Wagons West (Call if you would like to help) 
Tour to Colorado. Travel to West Denver; ride the Loop Train from 
Silver Plume to Georgetown; visit special places in Denver area.

More on these events later in the March Buffalo Tales or a special mailing.
*•••••

Barb Avery and her committee are planning a Circus Display for the display area, using 
the history of the Circus. She would welcome ideas and any material you might have.

—Margaret Hohnholt, President
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Creek, a tributary of the South Loup River. After a year in the bank W. C. Tillson joined 
them on Cedar Creek. The Pools and W. C. Tillson settled on three-quarters of a section, 
interlocking their claims like a giant jigsaw puzzle, and proceeded to ranch and farm. 
Slowly, however, there was a falling out among them. It seems that W. W. Pool was 
becoming too much of a boomer for the others.

In 1879 W. W. Pool went into partnership with B. F. Peck of East Bethany, New 
York, a well-to-do farmer, and M. E Shreve of Bordertown, New Jersey, a dealer in coal 
and lime, and in 1882 he really hit the big time, when, with his new partners and a group 
of New York City investors, the Nebraska Land and Cattle Company was formed. The 
formation of this company broke his business relationship with his old partners, but 
they still remained friends. W. C. Tillson returned to Kearney in 1882 and helped organize 
the Kearney National Bank. His house, Tower Hill, stood where the Kearney Country 
Club is today. A. H. Pool sold out and in 1883 moved to the Prairie Center area where 
he lived for the remainder of his life. He died in 1893, at the age of 63. W. Z. Tillson, 
the youngest of the four, went into ranching on his own and eventually settled northwest 
of Poole, where his descendants still live.

At about this same time, William S. Black and his brother-in-law, Thomas B. Mickle, 
came out from Burlington County, New Jersey, and with W. W. Pool, filed on a three- 
quarter section southeast of Poole, overlooking the South Loup. Their claims were 
interlocked jigsaw puzzle fashion just as before. This was to become the home base 
of the Nebraska Land and Cattle Company. For years Black and Mickle worked as hired 
hands for W. W. Pool. William S. Black proved to be an especially loyal employee. If 
W. W. Pool ever wanted to acquire land or obtain a loan, yet stay in the background, 
he could count on Black to be a dependable front man.

The Nebraska Land and Cattle Company was reorganized in 1884. The New York 
City investors dropped out and the new investors were R. L. Downing and Robert R. 
Greer of Kearney, along with the old investors, B. F. Peck, M. F. Shreve and W. W. Pool. 
Officers were B. F. Peck, president; R. L. Downing, vice-president and treasurer; and 
W. W. Pool, secretary and manager. Two days after the company was reorganized, the 
stockholders voted to mortgage the property of the company up to $100,000 so the 
company could expand its holdings.

The Nebraska Land and Cattle Company was a large operation. It had some 10,000 
acres of land centered around the community of Poole. The company raised, fattened 
and shipped an average of 1200 head of cattle a year. Many of them were Devon, for 
which W. W. Pool had high hopes. An average of 30 hands were employed. In 1884, 
$5000 in wages was paid. The company also had large tracts in mixed crops, sometimes 
as much as 3500 acres. In 1891 2000 acres were put into wheat and 1500 acres into 
com. The company’s effect on the area in terms of buying area crops for feed and 
furnishing employment must have been significant.

When the Union Pacific Railroad laid its tracks up the South Loup, Pool Siding was 
made a shipping point for the Nebraska Land and Cattle Company.

In the early 1890s the Nebraska Land and Cattle Company started to break up. 
The high hopes for the Devon cattle never materialized, prices were not good, and the 
hard winter of 1888 all may have contributed to it In January of 1892 the assets of 
the company were divided among its creditors, R. L. Downing taking the lion’s share. 
W. W. Pool continued to use the name of the company from time to time, but after
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later, his grief-stricken widow, Eva, who was 
never survived. She died April 5, 1898.

Store of T. J. McConnell, Poole, Nebraska.

January 1892, it was only a paper company and the need for Pool Siding ceased to exist.
As early as 1891 there may have been talk of developing Pool Siding as a town 

site, and in 1892 it did become a town. In that year Jesse Edson and George Duncan 
opened a general store, R. L. Downing put up an elevator, and on June 23,1892, George 
Duncan became the postmaster. In 1885 he had married Susan Pool, daughter of 
A H. and Gertrude S. Pool. Although Pool Siding was successful as a town during the 
1890s and became a place of commerce for the area farmers, schools and churches 
did not develop. They stayed out in the countryside where they had already been 
established.

After the break-up of the Nebraska Land and Cattle Company, W. W. Pool became 
involved with the Buffalo County Cattle Company which he helped form in 1894. During 
the 1890s his land holdings began to move eastward until they were situated between 
Pool Siding and South Ravenna (South Ravenna being about a mile south of Ravenna). 
About 1896 the Union Pacific located a depot at South Ravenna and that summer 
W. W. Pool was the first to ship cattle from there. His oldest daughter, Ella, was 
appointed depot agent, and at one time William S. Black had a general store there.

During the 1890s, W. W. Pool, like so many, had financial problems. The Buffalo 
County Cattle Company was a failure and he had other debts. Then his health began 
to fail and he was driven to the point of despair. In the early morning hours of 
March 21,1898, he left his Ravenna home, went to the cemetery, and there at the graves 
of two of his children, shot himself to death. He was 54 years old. About two weeks 

pregnant, went into premature labor and
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This tragedy almost brought about the end of Pool Siding. One of the creditors, 
Vermont Savings Bank, obtained a judgment in their favor against the Pool estate. 
To satisfy the judgment, the townsite of Pool Siding was sold at public auction in the 
summer of 1900. To keep their store buildings from being sold with the land, their owners 
had moved them off. It seems the store owners had no title to the land their stores 
were standing on. The post office was discontinued on June 21, 1900. So the town 
did indeed die.

Like the Phoenix, however, it rose from the ashes. Later that year and in 1901, 
the Vermont Savings Bank sold off parcels of the town site to the store owners and 
the buildings were moved back. In July 1900, the post office was reopened with 
W. Z. Tillson as the postmaster. This time Pool Siding began to function as a fully 
developed town, largely made possible by the people from the Majors community located 
southwest of the town. Two generations of these people made it a successful little town. 
In 1905 a state bank was opened with S. N. Bently as president and J. C. Miller as 
cashier. In 1907 a Presbyterian Church was started, an off-shoot of the Majors 
Presbyterian Church, and District 60 school, which had been located west of town, was 
moved into town.

The town even received a name change. While Anna S. Sitz was postmistress 
in 1906, the name was changed from Pool Siding to Poole. There had been confusion 
about the name since the town started in 1892. The Union Pacific used the name “Poole” 
and the post office the name “Pool Siding.” In 1906 the post office was changed to Poole 
to conform with the railroad name. The railroad had opened a depot in 1905, with 
J. C. Mahoney the depot agent.

In 1910 Poole was incorporated. The first village board consisted of C. E. Clark, 
J. S. Hanna, J. E. CriffielcL Henry Abrams, and J. C. Mahoney. Some of the early business 
men of Poole were J. E. Criffield, dry goods; George Duncan, general store; William 
Klein, general store; T J. McConnell, hardware; B. J. Stover, blacksmith; Francis Reynolds, 
harness; and Wm. S. Eldridge, grain buyer.

The 1920s were the high point for Poole That decade it reached its peak 
population of 337. In 1924 the town installed electric lights; and in 1926 when the school 
house burned down, a new brick school was built. Some of the business people of the 
1920s were George Duncan, general store; Alva Linsey, general store; Ross Burton, 
garage; Wesley Heapy, pool hall; W. E. Whitcomb, elevator; and Floyd Thompson, ice 
cream parlor.

The town could be a lively place sometimes, although with the Presbyterians’ 
influence, things never really got out of hand. In 1914 the Village Board banned as 
“indecent” the Turkey Trot and the Bunny Hop. Baseball on Sunday was looked upon 
with disfavor, to^ but when Walter Duncan, son of George Duncan, “disappeared” on 
Sunday afterna .s, the Duncan family, strong Presbyterians, looked the other way.

During the j30s Poole started to go down hill. In 1933 Ravenna lost its banks 
and Charles E. Clark, who had joined the State Bank of Poole as cashier in 1909, was 
prevailed upon to move the Poole bank to Ravenna. In 1935 George Duncan, longtime 
merchant, died. There was still life in the town, though. Ballroom dances were held in 
the stone garage along the railroad tracks. After the bank moved to Ravenna, square 
dances were held in the vacant bank building.

In 1947 the South Laup River flooded and the bridges of the Union Pacific Railroad



Buffalo TalesPage 6 January, 1990

L

Buffalo County Historical Society
Box 523
Kearney, NE 68848

Lawrence & Ruth Curd, Amherst 
Edna Mae Hehner, Pleasanton 
L. F. Haug, Shelton
Curtis & Barbara Thienel, Shelton 
Mr. & Mrs. Martin Maul, Riverdale

were washed out. Rather than rebuild the bridges, the railroad abandoned the line, which 
left Poole with no railroad and no depot. In 1953 the Poole Church was torn down. 
During the 1950’s a baseball field was built, which sort of balanced things out a little 
for the town.

In 1966 the old anchor of Poole was destroyed when the Duncan Store burned 
down. Glenn Stover had run it for 25 years after the Duncans. That same year the school 
closed. In 1972, after 62 years, Poole as an incorporated town was dissolved, and in 
1982 the Poole post office was closed.

Today Poole is a small bedroom community, but who knows—maybe it is waitiing 
to play Phoenix. It did it before.
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